**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

CASE NO. 2011-CP-21-941

Tracking Number: 2013-001764

Scient Partners, LLCAppellant,
v.
Pinnacle Network Solutions, Inc. and Cliff Smith Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TURNER, PADGET, GRAHAM & LANEY, P.A.

J. René Josey (S.C. Bar # 3230)
Carlyle R. Cromer (S.C. Bar # 100058)
Post Office Box 5478
Florence, SC 29502-5478
843-656-4451 (Telephone)
843-413-5818 (Fax)
RJosey@TurnerPadget.com (Email)

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

AUG 19 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AS TO THE CONSPIRACY THEORY WHEN, VIEWED IN THE LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO APPELLANT, IT SHOULD HAVE BEEN PRESENTED AS AN ALTERNATIVE THEORY OF RECOVERY WITH ITS OWN SPECIAL DAMAGES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 11, 2011, Appellant Scient Partners, LLC (“HillSouth”)¹ initiated this action against its former employee, Respondent Cliff Smith and Smith’s new employer, Pinnacle Network Solutions, Inc. (“Pinnacle”). While the Complaint and Amended Complaint asserted a number of causes of action, the matter proceeded to trial on the causes of action for civil conspiracy and violation of the South Carolina Trade Secrets Act, S.C. Code § § 39-8-10 et. Seq. (hereinafter “TSA”). The matter was tried by a jury in Florence County Common Pleas Court from April 22nd to April 25th, 2013. At the close of the Appellant’s case in chief, the trial court directed a verdict on the conspiracy cause of action. After deliberation, the jury returned a verdict for the Respondents finding that neither had violated the TSA. Appellant made post trial motions for a new trial and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict – which were denied by the Court’s written order filed July 3, 2013. Respondents made a post-trial motion for attorney fees under the TSA which was also denied by separate written order of that same date. Appellant filed Notice of Appeal to this Court on August 8, 2013.

¹ Although incorporated as Scient Partners, LLC, the Appellant conducts business under the trade name HillSouth and that name was used consistently at the trial of this matter. HillSouth will also be used in this Brief for consistency.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Proprietary Investment By Appellant And Its Theft

This is a case of employee disloyalty and theft. The Respondent Smith, once an employee of the Appellant – a firm that provides individualized technology (computer) based solutions -- spent months working together with an entire team of Appellant’s staff, including certified technology specialists,² and specialized partners, to put together an integrated technology solution to the complex retail management needs presented by the unique campus and tourist business known as South of the Border in Dillon, South Carolina (hereinafter “SOB”). SOB’s campus includes some 300 acres including hotels, restaurants, gift shops, and gas stations. Testimony of Ryan Schafer, p. 25 line 25 – p. 26 line 10. As described more

² The Appellant has been repeatedly recognized for its expertise in the field of information technology. As summarized by Appellant’s founder Robby Hill, p. 281 lines 6-18,

I value my company’s participation as being a leader in the technology industry, and we have been recognized at HillSouth with several awards. Last year we were honored with Industry Magazine. They named us one of the most innovative 250 technology companies in the country and that was this year end, the 250 Award. They also honored us with the fast growth 100 meaning we’re one of the hundred best growing technology companies that they recognized. We were also honored to be ranked Number 994 on the Eight Magazine list of the 5,000 fastest growing companies in the United States, and for the past two years I’ve been recognized at the White House as one of the top 100 young entrepreneurs of the United States of America.

As Chief Technology Officer Andy Patel described, one of the certifications (CCNA) alone requires a two year training program at the technical college. Moreover, becoming a Premier partner with the network equipment vendor Cisco requires its own certifications, training, and testing (with significant corresponding fees and costs) – but results in an enhanced relationship and access to the vendor’s own experts while working on projects like SOB. Patel Testimony, p. 231 line 16 through p. 233 line 3.

completely below, the evidence in the record confirms that Appellant's SOB design work had value and was reasonably guarded.

The Respondent Smith was HillSouth's point of contact for the SOB project during the development period in the Fall of 2009 and Spring of 2010. Respondent Smith was well suited for this role since he and his wife were personal friends with SOB's director of information technology (Chris Bailey) and that director's spouse. Smith testimony, p. 126 lines 4-9; Hill testimony, p. 286 line 19 to page 287 line 1, Bailey testimony, p. 383 lines 9-14.

After developing a proposed solution for SOB's needs, the Appellant was poised to recoup its investment of time and expertise by contracting to provide the services and equipment literally and figuratively mapped out in the planning process.³ Because his friend was posted on

³ The time (months) and expertise spent in the planning process was described by numerous witnesses: Ryan Schafer (see excerpt below), Robby Hill (see excerpt below), Andy Patel of HillSouth (Transcript, p. 230 line 6 – p. 236 line 17), James Hart of BBCI (Transcript, p. 368 line 18 – p. 370 line 2), and reluctantly Respondent Smith – who coyly was reluctant to acknowledge his former employer's work (Transcript, p.123 line 20 – p. 125 line 21) until confronted with a mountain of his former e-mails recovered by Appellant after his departure. Transcript, p. 133 line 5 – p. 147 line 19.

Mr. Schafer described the HillSouth project investment at the South of The Border as follows:

The pretty much made an inventory of all the shops, how many cash registers we needed where, where the backup servers would be in the offices, worked the cabling company [BBCI] to figure out a layout of the fiber optic cable that needed to be layed [sic] and where switches needed to be to take care of it.
p. 27 lines 8-17.

CEO Hill of Appellant described the collaborative effort, in part, as follows:

Q All right. And -- but the proposal that was made by HillSouth to south of the Border at the end of March 2010, it was in partnership with BBCI, was it not?

A Absolutely. You know, the components that HillSouth was presenting were made to fit with the solution that BBCI was bringing to the table, and we were definitely partners in the efforts and my HillSouth employees, namely

the inside of the SOB technology department, the Respondent Smith knew when SOB would be ready to commit to a contract. Smith Testimony, p. 207 line 16 to 208 line 16 (Bailey advises Smith on July 9, 2010, that SOB is ready to start).

Thus, just before the Appellant could realize the recoupment of its investment, the Respondent Smith opportunistically resigned his employment with the Appellant (on Friday, July 23, 2010) , two weeks after Bailey signaled that SOB was ready to deal, and offered the Appellant's pain stakingly developed proposal to SOB through his new employer, the Appellant's competitor -- Respondent Pinnacle, two days later.⁴

Neither Respondent Smith or his close friend Chris Bailey informed SOB President Ryan Schafer that this new proposal was no longer coming from the known and trusted experts at HillSouth but rather from a misappropriating competitor-- one not favored by Schafer.⁵ As Mr. Schafer explained, "I didn't have any idea that we were dealing with a company other than

Andy Patel, had spent many many hours and days and weeks consulting with them using his expertise.

Transcript, page 285 lines 17-25.

Incredibly, Pinnacle's officer Brent Tiller suggested that "anybody could have" designed an appropriate integrated network for the 300 acre SOB campus with a little help from BBCI. Transcript, p. 81 lines 11-13.

⁴ While pre-trial discovery from the Respondent Pinnacle (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 5; Introduced at Trial Transcript, p. 57 line 25 – p.58 line 18) allegedly prepared with available personnel records (Testimony of owner/officer Brent Tiller, p. 61 lines 12 – 19) stated that Smith's employment with Pinnacle began August 6, 2010, the Defendant Smith admitted at trial that his Pinnacle employment began Monday July 26, 2010. Smith Testimony, p. 159 lines 10-14. *Likewise, while Respondents confirmed by interrogatory response that they communicated by e-mail with SOB (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 3), this technology company failed to find and produce any such e-mails.* Transcript, p. 70 lines 4-9. Despite this non-production, Respondents answered that such e-mails with SOB began on August 11, 2010, and not over the July 24, 2010 weekend as SOB e-mails later confirmed and Respondents were forced to admit at trial. Exhibit 17-A. Smith Testimony, p. 167 lines 13-22.

⁵ See Schafer Testimony, page 29 line 4 to page 30 line 18.

HillSouth. I was never told hey, by the way, we're not dealing with HillSouth anymore." As Mr. Schafer further noted, it was HillSouth and BBCI – not Pinnacle that spent the time and the effort to meet with him, to participate in conference calls, to map out the SOB campus, and to design a system for SOB's specific needs. Transcript, page 47 line 24 to page 48 line 11 (explaining how Chris Bailey was not "straight" with him about the contractual switch to Pinnacle). Because the same two people (Respondent Smith and his friend Chris Bailey) came to the contract signing and controlled the flow of information about the project,⁶ Schafer initially thought he had signed an agreement with HillSouth. Schafer Testimony, p. 45 line 25 – p. 46 line 9.

The Value of The Proprietary Work Product, Its Protection, And Smith's Awareness

The planning and development work done for SOB is the proprietary work product offered by firms such as HillSouth as the key element of their service-based business model where compensation for that investment ultimately recouped in the sale of equipment and follow-up service of the infrastructure created. As CEO Robby Hill of HillSouth explained,

But one of the things that I've noticed in my industry is that you can go to HP or to Dell or to Microsoft and you can purchase a bunch of items directly from these companies. Well, the only value add that my company and Pinnacle or anybody in our industry has to offer is the -- our ability to take these HP, Dell, Microsoft products and assemble them into a solution that solves the problem for your company.

Now, not only do we do that assembling, we also have to support it after it's installed and -- so, the only benefit of purchasing the solutions, as we're talking about in this case in my opinion, is to afford the opportunity to have one vendor who is in charge of everything.

⁶ Schafer also testified that Bailey and Smith stopped copying him on e-mails about the project. Transcript, p. 49 lines 12-16, p.40 line 20 – p.41 line 5. Schafer also suggested that he thought SOB files had been purged of HillSouth e-mails. Transcript p. 48 line 17 –p. 49 line 11.

You know, looking at the South Of The Border project and my familiarity with it, you know, the BBCI⁷ solution that we will hear more about I'm sure, in conjunction with the Pinnacle solution, separately would mean nothing. But together, they form a problem solved for the customer, and so that's what my company does for a living.

You know, people, our customers, the businesses, and they may pay a little bit more to use us, but they value that we're experts in what we do and they trust our credentials and trust us to take care of that -- this problem in a reliable manner using technology.

Hill testimony, p. 284 line 11 – p. 285 line 8.

Respondent Smith had full knowledge of the confidential and proprietary nature of HillSouth's development work. By the time he left, Smith had been with the firm some 3 years and had executed an employment handbook,⁸ a non-compete agreement,⁹ as well as used

⁷ BBCI (James Hart) was the cabling design and sales firm who partnered on the SOB project with Appellant – and subsequently with Pinnacle.

⁸ Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 7 (Record on Appeal, pp. ____). Employee Handbook signed by Respondent Smith ("Employees must carefully protect and must not disclose to any third party, confidential and proprietary information belonging to the company or its customers. Such information includes, but is not limited to... matters of a technical nature such as computer software, product sources, product research and design ... methods, procedures, and analysis, and any other proprietary information, whether communicated orally or in documentary, computerized, or other hand-able form concerning the company or its customers, operations, and businesses."). See also Smith testimony, p. 100 line 13 to p. 104 line 1. ***After reading these provisions, Smith later testified that he didn't know, he didn't understand, it was written by lawyers, but it must not relate to the claims of this case!*** Smith Testimony, p. 216 line 9 – p. 217 line 6.

⁹ Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 8 (Record on Appeal, pp. ____). This non-compete agreement was redacted at trial and simply treated as a confidentiality agreement or confidentiality acknowledgement because it was presumed unenforceable as a non-compete agreement. Nevertheless the document was relevant under the TSA and the conspiracy cause of action to show Respondent Smith's awareness of trade secrets and other intellectual work product of Appellant.

confidentiality agreements on other projects.¹⁰ Extensive testimony was developed at trial from both the Appellant’s CEO Robby Hill (Transcript, p. 287 line 8 to p. 292 line 24 (Exhibits 8 and 9)) and from the Respondent Smith (Transcript, p. 100 line 10 to p. 107 line 1 (Exhibit 7 and 8)) about the extensive measures undertaken with Smith (and other employees of Appellant) to protect confidential work.

Smith’s awareness of the value of the proprietary work product represented by such planning and design was further demonstrated by his effort to protect that *very same* work product from theft *immediately after he himself took it from HillSouth* and presented it, as an employed agent of Respondent Pinnacle, to his friend on the inside at SOB stamped “confidential.” Smith bragged that he *voluntarily* undertook to protect this misappropriated work for his new employer after *failing* to undertake such protections for Appellant *when obligated to do so*.¹¹

Despite his own signed acknowledgement and commitment to protect the Appellant’s confidences, secrets, and work product, at trial the Respondents took the unbelievable unmitigated position that they had not misappropriated any “trade secrets” because the written proposal of HillSouth summarizing that work product for the customer’s (SOB) consideration was not stamped or marked confidential¹² – although it was the thief who put together the final

¹⁰ Plaintiff’s Trial Exhibit 9 (Record on Appeal, pp. ____). Transcript, p. 288 line 7 – p. 290 line 11 (Robby Hill testimony describing Respondent Smith’s use of Exhibit 9).

¹¹ Smith testimony, p. 149 line 1 to p. 150 line 24 (“I took the initiative to do it for this, for this document.”). *In contrast*, with regard to the same work product when it left HillSouth, Respondent Smith remarked, “It was not marked confidential. ***I never told anybody that it was confidential, and I did not request that it be kept a secret.***” (emphasis added)). Smith Testimony, p.219 line 23 to p. 220, line 11

¹² See, e.g., Respondent’s Closing Argument by Counsel, p. 428 line 22 – p. 430 line 6.

written proposal¹³ and had the obligation to protect it – whether by marking, stamping, sealing, or encrypting.

Admitted Taking of Appellant's Work Product

Respondent Smith took the SOB proposed solution with him to his new employer, Respondent Pinnacle and used it to earn himself a handsome bonus – a bonus equal to 10% of the new home mortgage loan closed by the Respondent Smith on the same day he resigned his employment with Appellant.¹⁴ Specifically, Respondent Smith admitted that:

1) He sent a summary quote to SOB on behalf of Respondent Pinnacle using a Pinnacle provided e-mail address at 11 AM on Tuesday July 27, 2010 after resigning Appellant on Friday the 23rd; (Transcript p. 158 lines 14-25);

2) The summary quote was not based upon Mr. Smith's solo work during his two days at Pinnacle (the 26th and 27th) but rather was based upon work he was part of at HillSouth; (Transcript p. 160 lines 14-19); and

3) The summary quote made on behalf of Pinnacle from HillSouth's work was not based merely on Respondent Smith's memory of that work but *based upon documents he took from HillSouth*; (Transcript p 160 line 20 – p. 161 line 10);

Causation and Damages

Ryan Schafer testified that SOB would have awarded the contract to HillSouth *but for* Respondent Smith's undetected departure and use of the misappropriated information.

¹³ See the personal pronoun used in the transcript quoted in the footnote above.

¹⁴ Smith Testimony and Proffer, p. 109 line 4 – p. 118 line 14. While the trial court ruled out jury consideration of any evidence related to this new home purchase and loan, Appellant contended that it was a relevant circumstance to show the Respondent Smith's planning and confidence for anticipated compensation to be derived from his departure from Appellant with work product in hand.

Specifically, Mr. Schafer testified that *he thought he had contracted with HillSouth* or some affiliated firm, Transcript p. 45 line 25 – p. 46 line 14, and that had he known it was Respondent Pinnacle, he “very seriously doubt” that he would have contracted with them. Transcript, p. 29 lines 11-13. At trial, the Appellant offered evidence of direct damages of \$97,203.67 – a sum equal to lost profit on the SOB project (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 21; Robby Hill Testimony, p. 296 line 1 – p. 300 line 24). In support of damages to Appellant’s reputation and brand, Mr. Schafer further testified that he still thought it was HillSouth under contract when “questions about some things” arose in the performance of the contract and after judging the issues against HillSouth’s brand and reputation, Chris Bailey subsequently confessed “Cliff had left HillSouth.” Testimony of Ryan Schafer, p. 29 line 29 - p. 30 line 6.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AS TO THE CONSPIRACY THEORY WHEN, VIEWED IN THE LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO APPELLANT, IT COULD HAVE BEEN PRESENTED AS AN ALTERNATIVE THEORY OF RECOVERY WITH ITS OWN PLEADED AND PROVEN SPECIAL DAMAGES.

Appellant in this case proceeded to trial on two potentially inconsistent but viable theories of liability: civil conspiracy and violation of the South Carolina Trade Secrets Act (the “TSA”). The risk of inconsistency from the Appellant’s trial theories essentially is recognized both in the TSA itself and in the case law requiring “special damages” for claims of civil conspiracy. The solution to such risk of inconsistency is to bifurcate determination of the issues or require appropriate election of remedies at the proper time. In this case, the TSA claim was rejected by the jury, but the jury was not allowed to consider the alternative theory of civil conspiracy because of the trial court’s erroneous decision to direct a verdict on that cause of action prior to any jury consideration.

The Conspiracy Requirement of Special Damages

South Carolina case law consistently states, without much explanation, that a Plaintiff asserting a civil conspiracy claim must allege and prove “special” damages. Peoples Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n of S. Carolina v. Resources Planning Corp., 358 S.C. 460, 596 S.E.2d 51, (2004); Future Group, II v. Nationsbank, 324 S.C. 89, 478 S.E.2d 45 (1996); LaMotte v. Punch Line of Columbia, Inc., 296 S.C. 66, 370 S.E.2d 711 (1988); Todd v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 276 S.C. 284, 278 S.E.2d 607 (1981); Lyon v. Sinclair Refining Co., 189 S.C. 136, 200 S.E. 78 (1938); Cowburn v. Leventis, 366 S.C. 20, 619 S.E.2d 437 (Ct. App. 2005); Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 595 S.E.2d 817 (Ct. App. 2004); Island Car Wash, Inc. v. Norris, 292 S.C. 595, 358 S.E.2d 150 (Ct. App. 1987); Lee v. Chesterfield Gen. Hosp. Inc., 289 S.C. 6, 344 S.E.2d 379 (Ct. App. 1986).

While no case seems to define what “special damages” *are*, a few define what “special damages” *are not* – they are not the same as damages recoverable under other theories. See Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555; 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006) (damages must go beyond that alleged in other causes of action); Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Associates, 342 S.C. 579; 538 S.E.2d 15 (Ct. App. 2000) (merely realleged the prior acts in other causes of action as conspiracy but damages verdict affirmed under breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty); Vaught v. Waites, 300 S.C. 201, 387 S.E.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1989) (no “special damages” alleged separate and apart from those alleged in contract claim); see also Robinson v. Metts, 86 F. Supp. 2d 557 (D.S.C. 1997)(plaintiff’s conspiracy cause of action failed to specify damages unique to that theory). Notably, while these 3 cases (and others) demand more unique details of conspiracy damages sought, presumably so they are not duplicative of other claims, all 3 cases *also* base their demurrer or dismissal on the plaintiff’s failure to show evidence of conspiratorial conduct.

In contrast, in cases where a conspiracy claim is allowed to go forward, there is little or no discussion about the fact that the conspiracy damages may *not* be unique from those sought or available under other theories. See, e.g., Island Car Wash, Inc. v. Norris, 292 S.C. 595, 358 S.E.2d 150 (Ct. App. 1987) (noting that even where a plaintiff fails to prove concerted design, he may still recover damages for a tort alleged to be the object of the conspiracy--with the conspiracy allegations “considered as mere surplusage” (citing Goble v. American Ry. Express Co., 124 S.C. 19, 115 S.E. 900 (1923))). In Island Car Wash, the damages found hardly seem special or unique at all – as they could have been sought in other causes of action. The damages there consisted of allegedly unauthorized payments or compensation from a car wash business – damages that could be sought pursuant to a legal and equitable theories of fraud, conversion, unjust enrichment, etc.

Conspiracy Should Have Been Allowed As A Factual Alternative To TSA

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