THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Hon. R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 11-CP-21-941

Appellate Case No. 2013-001764

RECEIVED

FEB 18 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Scient Partners, LLC.....Appellant,

v.

Pinnacle Network Solutions, Inc., and Cliff Smith.....Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Robert T. King (#066237)
rking@klslawfirm.com
Edward A. Love (#75118)
elove@klslawfirm.com
KING, LOVE & SMITH, LLC
PO Box 1764
Florence, SC 29503-1764
(843) 407-5525 - Tel
(843) 407-5782 – Fax
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

ARGUMENT

Though HillSouth raised several grounds for new trial or JNOV to the trial court, the only issue raised in its brief on appeal before this Court is whether the trial court erred in failing to allow the civil conspiracy claim to be presented to the jury as an alternate theory of recovery. All other issues raised previously have, therefore, been abandoned. *See Allen v. Pinnacle Healthcare Sys.*, 394 S.C. 268, 715 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2011) (matters not raised in statement of issues on appeal are deemed abandoned) (*citing* Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR).

I. HILLSOUTH FAILED TO PLEAD SPECIAL DAMAGES WITH SPECIFICITY; THEREFORE, ITS CLAIM FOR CIVIL CONSPIRACY WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED.

In order to maintain an action for civil conspiracy, a plaintiff must properly plead three elements “(1) a combination of two or more persons, (2) for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff, and (3) causing plaintiff special damage.” *Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, LLC*, 385 S.C. 110, 682 S.E.2d 871, 874 (Ct. App. 2009). A civil conspiracy claim “requires the tortious conduct in question to cause the plaintiff special damage.” *Benedict College v. Nat’l Credit Sys., Inc.*, 400 S.C. 538, 735 S.E.2d 518, 522 (Ct. App. 2012). As opposed to general damages which “are the immediate, direct, and proximate

result of the act complained of” and which “are inferred by the law itself,” this Court has repeatedly defined special damages as “those elements of damages that are the natural, but not the necessary or usual, consequence of the defendant’s conduct” which “are not implied at law because they do not necessarily result from the wrong.” Hackworth, 682 S.E.2d at 875; Benedict College, 735 S.E.2d at 522.

Special damages must “be *specifically alleged in the complaint* to avoid surprise to the other party.” Hackworth, 682 S.E.2d at 875 (*emphasis added*); Benedict College, 735 S.E.2d at 523; Rule 9(g), SCRPC (“[w]hen items of special damages are claimed, they shall be specifically stated”). “Because the quiddity of a civil conspiracy is the damage resulting to the plaintiff, the damages alleged must go beyond the damages alleged in other causes of action.” Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 633 S.E.2d 505, 511 (2006); Hackworth, 682 S.E.2d at 875. A plaintiff may not simply “incorporate the prior allegations [of other causes of action] and then allege the existence of a conspiracy and pray for damages resulting from the conspiracy.” Todd v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 276 S.C. 284, 278 S.E.2d 607, 611 (1981). “If a plaintiff merely repeats the damages from another claim instead of *specifically listing* special damages as part of their civil conspiracy claim, their conspiracy claim should be dismissed.” Hackworth, 682 S.E.2d at 875 (*emphasis added*); Vaught v. Waites, 300 S.C. 201, 387 S.E.2d 91, 95 (Ct. App. 1989). This Court has held that Todd, *supra*, requires that:

when a party wishes to assert multiple causes of action, including civil conspiracy, it must allege acts in furtherance of the conspiracy and special damages that are separate and independent of the other acts and damages that underlie the other causes of action within the same complaint.

Hackworth, 682 S.E.2d at 876. If special damages are not properly pled, a civil conspiracy claim must be dismissed. AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn, 392 S.C. 160, 168,

708 S.E.2d 218 (Ct. App 2011); *see also* Gordon v. Busbee, 397 S.C. 119, 723 S.E.2d 822, 831-32 (Ct. App. 2012) (holding that directed verdict was proper where plaintiff's "amended complaint fails to allege any special damages incurred as a result of any conspiracy" but simply "allege the same damages as they do under other causes of action").

In its Amended Complaint, HillSouth fails to plead special damages with specificity. Instead, HillSouth merely baldly asserts that it "suffered special damages" as a result of the alleged conspiracy, and that it is entitled to an award of "actual damages, prejudgment interest, and punitive damages." (R. p. 24.) There is, however, no specific listing of what those "special damages" consist. Moreover, even its generic request for the award of actual damages, punitive damages, and prejudgment interest mirrored its requests for identical damages in the other causes of action. (R. pp. 24-26.)

At trial HillSouth's counsel argued – for the first time at the directed verdict stage following the close of HillSouth's case-in-chief – that HillSouth suffered damage to its reputation and brand as a result of the conspiracy. (*See* R. p. 199, 1.4 – p. 200, 1.20.) Even assuming, *arguendo*, that such damages could constitute special, rather than general, damages and further assuming, *arguendo*, that those damages could somehow relate to the alleged conspiracy, those "items of special damage" were not "specifically stated" in the Amended Complaint as required by Rule 9(g) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Notwithstanding the fact that there was absolutely no testimony or other evidence that HillSouth suffered any such damage as argued by counsel at the directed verdict stage, there is no allegation anywhere in the Amended Complaint that HillSouth claimed injury to reputation or brand as special damages. In fact, at trial

HillSouth did not even bother to move to amend its pleadings to conform to the evidence, *see* Rule 15(b), SCRCF, which it could have done had it produced evidence of special damages in the form of injury to reputation or brand.

HillSouth's failure to properly plead special damages is fatal to its civil conspiracy cause as a matter of law. The trial court, therefore, properly granted Smith's and Pinnacle's motion for a directed verdict, and dismissed HillSouth's claim for civil conspiracy.

II. HILLSOUTH FAILED TO PROVE ANY SPECIAL DAMAGES AT TRIAL; THEREFORE, ITS CLAIM FOR CIVIL CONSPIRACY FAILED AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Alternatively, even assuming that the mere recitation of the words "special damages" is specific enough to survive dismissal, HillSouth was still required to prove all elements of a civil conspiracy in order to recover. *See Pye*, 633 S.E.2d at 511. "The essential consideration in civil conspiracy is...whether the primary purpose or object of the combination is to injure the plaintiff." *Id.*; *Benedict College*, 4735 S.E.2d at 522. A plaintiff may not simply "incorporate the prior allegations [of other causes of action] and then allege the existence of a conspiracy and pray for damages resulting from the conspiracy." *Todd*, 278 S.E.2d at 611. A plaintiff bears the burden of not only properly pleading, but also proving, special damages from the conspiracy which are "different from those constituting the alleged tortious act." *Todd*, 278 S.E.2d at 611.

Here, HillSouth produced absolutely no evidence that it sustained special damages in any form, much less injury to its brand or reputation as it now contends, resulting from an alleged conspiracy which was designed primarily to injure HillSouth. Not a single witness – not even Hill, HillSouth's owner and proclaimed "damage

witness” – even so much as mentioned, even in passing, that HillSouth sustained injury to reputation or brand as a result of the complained of acts. Instead, both Hill, and to a lesser extent, Patel, HillSouth’s CTO, testified at great length about HillSouth’s damages which consisted solely of the lost profits associated with failing to obtain the SOTB contract. The only person who even mentioned injury to reputation or brand at trial was HillSouth’s counsel in opposition to the directed verdict motion -- and, of course, the arguments of counsel do not constitute evidence.

HillSouth argues that the testimony of Schafer somehow demonstrates that HillSouth sustained reputation or brand injury. At no point in time did Schafer testify that HillSouth’s brand or reputation was in any way diminished as a result of anything that occurred. If his testimony that he thought he was contracting with HillSouth and not Pinnacle is to be believed, the only inference to be drawn is that, as even he admits, he signed a contract to spend several hundred thousands of dollars without reading it carefully enough to even know with whom he was contracting. (*See* R. p. 69, ll.16-18; R. pp. 253-259.) Additionally, as Schafer explains, the subsequent questions regarding the contract performance related to Pinnacle’s, not HillSouth’s, performance and charges for extra equipment which Pinnacle, not HillSouth, made. (R. p. 76.) Again, there is absolutely no mention by Schafer that HillSouth’s reputation or brand was at all diminished in any way by anything Smith or Pinnacle did or failed to do.

In seeming recognition that it failed to plead or produce evidence of special damages, HillSouth argues primarily that it should have been permitted to “elect remedies” between the Trade Secrets Act claim and the civil conspiracy claim. (Brief of Appellant pp.12-17.) The essence of its argument is that since the jury rejected its claim

under the Trade Secrets Act, the damages which it otherwise claimed were attributable thereto could then be bootstrapped to the civil conspiracy claim. This argument completely misapprehends the nature and purpose of the doctrine of election of remedies, ignores the special damages element of a civil conspiracy claim, and seeks to overturn a long history of well-established precedent starting with Todd, *supra*.

The “election of remedies involves a choice between different forms of redress afforded by law *for the same injury*, or different forms of proceeding on the same cause of action.” Jones v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc., 318 S.C. 171, 456 S.E.2d 429, 431 (Ct. App. 1995) (*emphasis added*). It requires “a choice between two or more different coexisting modes of procedure and relief afforded by law *for the same injury*.” Save Charleston Foundation v. Murray, 286 S.C. 170, 333 S.E.2d 60, 63 (Ct. App. 1985) (*emphasis added*). The doctrine of election of remedies “has no application where two separate causes of action, each based on different facts, exists.” Jones, 456 S.E.2d at 432.

By definition, the doctrine of election of remedies is inapplicable to claims for civil conspiracy. In order to maintain a civil conspiracy claim, a plaintiff must plead and prove “that the acts in furtherance of the conspiracy were separate and independent from other wrongful acts alleged in the complaint.” AJG Holdings, LLC, *supra* (*citing Todd*, 278 S.E.2d at 611). Additionally, the plaintiff must have sustained “special damages” as a result of the alleged conspiracy, which special damages must be separate and distinct from the damages sustained as a result of the other tortious conduct alleged. *E.g.*, Hackworth, 682 S.E.2d at 876; Pye, 633 S.E.2d at 511. The very elements required to sustain the cause dictate that a civil conspiracy is not, and cannot be, based on the “same facts” or the “same injuries” as any other cause of action, including one under the Trade

Secret Act, but is instead a separate cause of action based on different facts; therefore, the doctrine of election of remedies is inapplicable.

Moreover, HillSouth's suggestion that since it failed to prove its claim under the Trade Secrets Act, the damages attributable thereto should have thereby been attributable to the civil conspiracy claim, thus becoming "special damages," flies directly in the face of Todd, *supra*, and its well-settled progeny that the damages supporting a civil conspiracy cause must be separate and distinct from any other cause alleged in the complaint.² If accepted, HillSouth's theory would allow a plaintiff to ignore the special damages pleading requirements of Rule 9(g), pursue only general damages on a civil conspiracy claim, and still prevail but only if he happens to lose on the underlying tort claim: it is only if the plaintiff loses on the underlying claim that the damages otherwise common to other causes of action would become "special" to the civil conspiracy claim.³ That theory of relief is unsupportable under the well-established law of this State.

² Completely ignoring Todd and the cases that follow which clearly govern this action, HillSouth suggests that this issue is one of first impression in this State and directs this Court's attention to Nucor Corp. v. Bell, 482 F. Supp. 2d 714 (D.S.C. 2007), for the proposition that it should have been permitted to submit the civil conspiracy cause to the jury under an election of remedies theory. (Brief of Appellant pp. 14-16.) Contrary to HillSouth's assertions, Bell in no way addresses the issue of election of remedies. *See id.* at 726. Nor does Bell address the failure of a plaintiff to plead or prove special damages in connection with a civil conspiracy claim, which is the issue in this appeal; in fact, there is no discussion of whether the pleadings in that case met the elements of a civil conspiracy claim. *See id.* Rather, Bell merely stands for, in pertinent part, the rather unremarkable proposition that the Trade Secrets Act does not necessarily preempt common law causes of action, including potential civil conspiracy claims, since they may provide relief not afforded under the Act. *Id.* at 726-27. Preemption was not argued as a defense in this case and was not addressed by the trial court. Bell is completely inapposite.

³ Once again ignoring the governing precedent set forth in Todd, *supra*, Hackworth, *supra*, Pye, *supra*, and related cases, HillSouth suggests that Lee v. Chesterfield Gen. Hosp., Inc., 289 S.C. 6, 344 S.E.2d 379 (Ct. App. 1986) (*citing Sorrell's Case*, A.C. 700, 712 (1925)), and Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland, 390

For these reasons, too, the trial court properly directed verdict for Smith and HillSouth on HillSouth's civil conspiracy claim.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the circuit court's orders directing a verdict for the Respondents and denying the Appellant's motions for new trial and JNOV should be affirmed.



Robert T. King (#066237)

rking@klslawfirm.com

Edward A. Love (#75118)

elove@klslawfirm.com

KING, LOVE & SMITH, LLC

PO Box 1764

Florence, SC 29503-1764

(843) 407-5525 - Tel

(843) 407-5782 - Fax

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

February 12, 2015

S.C. 312, 701 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 2010), permit a civil conspiracy claim to be submitted to a jury under an alternate or election of remedies theory. (Brief of Appellant pp. 12-13.) In Lee the primary issue was whether it was necessary for a plaintiff to plead an unlawful act in connection with a civil conspiracy claim, or whether a lawful act could suffice; there was no discussion of special damages or election of remedies. *See* 344 S.E.2d at 382-83. In Cricket Cove it was held, specifically, that the plaintiff had stated a claim for civil conspiracy in that it properly pled special damages which were distinct from the damages sought in the other causes of action pled in the complaint; there was absolutely no discussion of election of remedies. *See* 701 S.E.2d at 46. These cases are also inapposite.

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Hon. R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 11-CP-21-941

Appellate Case No. 2013-001764

Scient Partners, LLC.....Appellant,

v.

Pinnacle Network Solutions, Inc., and Cliff Smith.....Respondents.